
  

 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT IN THE  
ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND  
FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA  
 
COMPLEX BUSINESS DIVISION  

SARAH FOSTER, individually and on behalf 
of all others similarly situated, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
CARL RUDERMAN, KOPELOWITZ 
OSTROW P.A., and DALE LEDBETTER, 
 
 Defendants. 
 

Case No. 2018-030906-CA-01 
 
 
 
CLASS REPRESENTATION 

 

FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT  
AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL  

Plaintiff Sarah Foster (“Plaintiff”) for her First Amended Complaint against Defendant 

Carl Ruderman (“Ruderman”), Defendant Kopelowitz Ostrow P.A. (“KO”), and Defendant Dale 

Ledbetter (“Ledbetter”), alleges as follows:  

INTRODUCTION  

1. Plaintiff in this action seeks relief for the unlawful offer and sale of unregistered 

securities issued by 1 Global Capital LLC d/b/a 1st Global Capital LLC (“1st Global”). 1st Global 

collapsed into bankruptcy on July 25, 2018. Shortly thereafter, on August 23, 2018, the SEC filed 

a lawsuit against 1st Global and Ruderman (“the SEC Action”) seeking relief for (inter alia) the 

sale of unregistered securities in violation of federal law, and alleging that 1st Global’s actions are 

part of a larger fraudulent scheme.  

2. Plaintiff does not in this action name or otherwise seek relief against 1st Global. 

Plaintiff instead seeks such relief from Defendants, without any allegation of fraud, for their role 

in the offer and sale of unregistered securities, as authorized under the statutory liability provisions 
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of the federal Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. § 77a et seq. (the “Federal Securities Act”) and of 

the Florida Securities and Investor Protection Act (the “FSIPA”).  

THE PARTIES  

3. Plaintiff is an individual resident of Arizona. 

4. Ruderman is an individual resident of the City of Aventura, located within Miami-

Dade County, Florida, and citizen of Florida. Ruderman founded 1st Global, was its chairman, and 

functioned for the entirety of its operations as its Chief Executive Officer. Ruderman maintained 

sole operational control over 1st Global, closely monitored its fundraising from investors and the 

MCA Program, and made all key management decisions. Ruderman took many of these actions 

from his residence in Miami-Dade County, Florida. 

5. KO is a professional association formed under Florida law, with its principal place 

of business in Florida, and an office in Miami-Dade County located at 2800 Ponce de Leon Blvd, 

Suite 1100, Coral Gables, FL 33134. KO is a citizen of Florida. 

6.   Ledbetter is a resident of Florida who at all times was employed by or otherwise 

acted as an agent of KO, and whose actions alleged herein where undertaken within the course and 

scope of his employment with KO. Ledbetter is a citizen of Florida. 

7. Ruderman, KO and Ledbetter are hereinafter collectively referred to as 

“Defendants.” As alleged below, 1st Global and Defendants have, directly and indirectly, made 

use of the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, and the mails, in connection with 

the acts, practices, and courses of business set forth in this First Amended Complaint.  

JURISDICTION   

8. The Court has original jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims for violation of the 

Federal Securities Act pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 77v(a).  
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9. The unregistered securities at issue in this case are not “covered securities” within 

the meaning of National Securities Market Improvement Act of 1996 (NMSIA), 15 U.S.C. § 

77r(b), and accordingly this action is not removable to federal court under the Securities Litigation 

Uniform Standards Act (SLUSA), 15 U.S.C. § 77p(f)(3), nor is it subject to the procedural 

requirements of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act (PSLRA), 15 U.S.C. § 78u–4(a). 

10. The Court has original jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims for violation of the FSIPA 

under Fla. Const. Article V, § 5 (a).  In addition, this is an action for damages and the amount in 

controversy exceeds this Court’s minimum jurisdiction amount ($15,0000 exclusive of interest, 

costs, and attorney’s fees). Plaintiff’s FSIPA claims are not removable, since Defendants are 

citizens of Florida. 

11. Venue is proper in this court because Ruderman resides in Miami-Dade County, 

because KO has an office in Miami-Dade County, and because a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred in Miami-Dade County.   

12. Assignment to the Complex Business Litigation Division is proper because the 

amount in controversy exceeds $1 million, involves complex issues, and involves a proposed class 

action.  

FACTUAL BACKGROUND  

13. 1st Global over the last four years has raised some $287 million from over 3,400 

investors throughout the United States through the offer and sale to each investor of a so-called 

“Memorandum of Indebtedness” (“MOI”) – a form of security which 1st Global failed to register 

pursuant to the Federal Securities Act.   

14. The 1st Global offered and sold the MOIs through its so-called “Merchant Cash 

Advance” program (“MCA Program”), described as a way for investors to “put their cash to work 

for merchants while earning healthy returns . . . .”   
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15. 1st Global used a network of barred brokers, registered and unregistered investment 

advisors, and other sales agents – to whom 1st Global paid millions of dollars in commissions, 

ranging from 0.75% to 3% of every new investment amount they procured for 1st Global – to offer 

and sell the MOIs to investors nationwide, including to Plaintiff in Arizona.  

16. 1st Global placed no restrictions on who sales agents could solicit to purchase the 

MOIs; 1st Global instead accepted money from any and all investors the sales agents could 

procure, without regard to any minimum investment amount or accredited investor status. More 

than one-third of the money raised by 1st Global came from investors who invested using their 

IRAs or other retirement funds.  

17. 1st Global provided sales material (including a Frequently Asked Questions 

(“FAQ”) brochure) to its sales agents for use in marketing the MOIs, who distributed the materials 

by mail and email to solicit potential investors.  

18. 1st Global’s sales agents knew from the materials supplied to them by 1st Global 

that the MOIs were not registered as securities under the Federal Securities Act or the FSIPA. This 

was true even though under the MCA Program the terms of the MOIs obviously functioned as 

securities.   

19. Specifically, under the MCA Program, the “Lender” (investor) was given the 

opportunity to participate in a loan portfolio of hundreds of small business loans developed by the 

“Borrower” (1st Global). The “return” to the investor was explicitly dependent on the performance 

of the portfolio developed by 1st Global.  

20. For example, the MOI stated that an investor was providing money to 1st Global 

so 1st Global could expand its business activities, which it termed the “Covered Activities.” The 

only specific Covered Activity identified in the MOI was to provide short-term cash advances – 
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the MCAs – to 1st Global’s assembled portfolio of small and medium-sized businesses, with the 

investor to share in the repayments made by the businesses loaned funds under the MCAs.   

21. Thus, the return received by the investor under the MOI was not a fixed interest 

rate; rather, the return to the investor fluctuated with the underlying results of 1st Global’s 

reinvestment of the invested funds through its portfolio of MCA borrowers. 1st Global’s marketing 

materials, also provided to the sales agents, made clear to them and to the investors that the return 

on investment would depend upon the success of the 1st Global’s decisions and business and 

financial acumen.  

22. Second, under the terms of the MOI, 1st Global actually charged the investors for 

“loaning” their money to 1st Global. For example, 1st Global pocketed a 13% “management fee” 

from all MCA repayments. In addition, 1st Global charged investors to reimburse the finders’ fees 

that 1st Global paid to third-parties for finding merchants to borrow funds under the MCA 

Program.  

23. Third, the MOI confirmed that it was within 1st Global’s discretion how to use 

investor money to make or fund MCA loans. After 1st Global received the investor funds, it pooled 

and commingled them together in non-segregated bank accounts maintained by 1st Global. In fact, 

investors had no say in how 1st Global used their money. Investors could not and did not manage 

1st Global’s MCA loan portfolios; it was solely up to the 1st Global whether and when to use an 

investor’s money to fund MCAs and which MCAs to fund. The success of the investment and 

whether an investor earned profits was thus solely dependent on 1st Global’s efforts and its MCA 

funding decisions, as well as on its repayment and collection efforts.  

24. Fourth, while the MOI described itself as a nine-month obligation, the MOI also 

stated the invested funds would automatically be reinvested unless the investor expressly informed 

1st Global in writing at least 30 days before the end of the operative nine-month period that he or 
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she did not want the note to reinvest.  In addition, the MOI is part of an integrated offering with 

other securities offered and sold by 1st Global with terms longer than nine-months. 

25. Plaintiff and the overwhelming majority of other investors reinvested their MOIs 

on one or more occasions. According to the SEC, one sales agent estimated only six to eight of the 

hundreds of investors he solicited redeemed their investments after nine months. 1st Global bank 

records reviewed by the SEC show that as of April 30, 2018, investors had sent more than $287 

million to 1st Global, while 1st Global had returned only about $16 million of those funds through 

redemptions or other payments.  

26. Even if an investor took affirmative steps to redeem his or her investment after nine 

months, the MOI extended well beyond nine months because the MOI afforded 1st Global several 

months to fully pay out an investor’s principal and interest, which it referred to as an “unwinding” 

or “grace period.”  

27. The MOIs provided for the unwinding period because, rather than using investor 

proceeds to fund to a single MCA or a small number of MCAs, 1st Global gave each investor a 

small, fractionalized interest in its hundreds of MCAs. 1st Global’s computer system would assign 

the investor’s funds automatically, based on the amount of MCAs funded daily in the weeks 

following an investment. Under this system, one MCA would be funded with dozens or even 

hundreds of investors’ funds pooled together.  

28. Using this process often resulted in 1st Global taking months to place all of an 

investor’s funds into MCAs. Thus, should an investor elect to redeem his or her investment after 

nine months, it would take many months after that for the merchants who received the investor’s 

money to fully repay their MCAs. Often 1st Global would not generate enough money from the 

MCAs to fully pay redeeming investors, forcing 1st Global to use new investor funds to pay off 

redeeming investors.  
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29. 1st Global ultimately memorialized the unwinding period into specific timetables 

at the beginning of 2018, informing investors – and its sales agents – that if an investor who sought 

to redeem his or her investment had placed less than $250,000 with 1st Global, the investor would 

not be fully repaid until 12 months, three months after the end of the nine-month term; for 

investments of greater than $250,000, the repayment would take six additional months, making 

the MOI a 15-month note.  

30. Although the MOI contained a boilerplate paragraph stating the investor was 

sophisticated and was “qualified” (meaning he or she had a certain income level or net worth), the 

sales agents knew that 1st Global (1) never enforced this provision, (2) did not restrict to whom 

sales agents could offer the investments to, and (3) accepted investments from anyone located by 

the sales agents who wanted to invest, regardless of their net worth, income, or sophistication. 

31.   Each MOI offered and sold to Plaintiff and the other Class Members during the 

Class Period constituted a “security” within the meaning of the Federal Securities Act, which 

defines a “security” as any “note” or “investment contract,” or, in general, “any interest or 

instrument commonly known as a ‘security’[.]” 15 U.S.C. § 77b(a)(1). To determine whether a 

note, investment contract or interest is a security under federal law, courts go beyond labels and 

look to the “economic reality” of the transaction. S.E.C. v. W.J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293, 298 

(1946). This inquiry looks to whether the interest involves: (1) an investment of money; (2) “in a 

common enterprise”; (3) “with profits to come solely from the efforts of others.” Id. at 301.  

32. The first Howey element, an investment of money, is plainly satisfied here.  

33. The second Howey element, a “common enterprise,” is one where the fortunes of 

the investor are interwoven with and dependent upon the efforts and success of those seeking the 

investment of third parties. This second element is likewise satisfied here, for the return on 
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investment of the Plaintiff and other members of the Class was completely interwoven with and 

dependent upon the efforts and success of 1st Global’s MCA Program.  

34. The third and final element of the Howey test is met where the efforts made by 

those other than the investor are the undeniably significant ones, those essential managerial efforts 

which affect the failure or success of the enterprise. Here, Plaintiff and the other members of the 

Class had no role other than the transfer of funds to 1st Global, who retained all discretion as to 

how those funds were then allocated over its MCA portfolio, and who exercised that discretion for 

a fee charged to the investors.   

35. In short, all three elements of the Howey test are readily satisfied here. 

36. To whatever extent Defendants contend that the MOI is a “note” rather than an 

investment contract, it is likewise a “security” under Reves v. Ernst & Young, 494 U.S. 56, 67 

(1990). See also Honig v. Kornfeld, No. 18-80019-CV, 2018 WL 4502174, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Aug. 

20, 2018). 

KO AND LEDBETTER’S ACTIVE INVOLVEMENT  
IN THE SALE OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES 

37. In a filing in the SEC’s action against Ruderman, Ruderman admits that he hired 

KO to assist 1st Global and Ruderman “in all aspects of the company’s business operations.” 

Defendant Carl Ruderman’s Memorandum in Opposition to Preliminary Injunction [Doc. 62], 

attached as Exhibit A, at 4. Ruderman further admits that KO’s involvement in 1st Global’s 

operation was “pervasive and substantial, and included forming the company, [and] overseeing the 

company’s efforts to raise capital from individual lenders . . . .” Id.  

38. In particular, Ruderman describes the direct involvement of KO and Ledbetter as 

follows:  

First, 1st Global’s marketing operations to potential individual lenders—described 
by the SEC as investors—was spearheaded by an attorney at KO (the “KO 
Attorney”) who, to our knowledge, recently left the firm. As noted by the SEC, 1st 
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Global raised capital from individual lenders through a network of sales agents who 
were independent contractors and who were paid on a commission basis. The KO 
Attorney was responsible for overseeing 1 Global’s entire network of sales agents, 
and received a commission “override” on all capital raised by these agents. In this 
role, the KO Attorney was responsible for preparing and disseminating 1 Global’s 
marketing materials to potential lenders (through the sales agent network), and for 
supervising and overseeing the marketing efforts by the sales agent network, 
including their representations and statements to potential lenders. *** 

 
Second, not only did KO oversee the company’s efforts to raise funds, but it 
prepared the MOI contracts between 1 Global and its individual lenders. Moreover, 
when 1 Global sought advice as to whether the MOIs were securities that needed 
to be registered under the Securities Act, KO advised 1 Global that these were notes 
that did not need to be registered with the SEC. 

 
Exhibit A, at 4-5 (citations omitted). The “KO Attorney” referenced by Ruderman is, upon 

information and belief, Ledbetter.  

39. In addition to the foregoing, evidence gathered by the SEC demonstrates that 

Ledbetter was actively involved in attracting brokers to sell 1st Global’s unregistered securities on 

behalf of 1st Global. One such broker was Goldstone Financial Group, which raised approximately 

$30 million from investors for 1st Global. When Mike Pellegrino of the Goldstone Financial Group 

was introduced to 1st Global by a professional acquaintance, he was advised to speak with Mr. 

Ledbetter, who was described as “outside counsel for 1st Global” and “a securities attorney or a 

litigating securities attorney with thirty-five, forty years of experience.” See Mike Pellegrino 

Deposition Transcript, attached as Exhibit B, at 38:19–39:14. Ledbetter assured Pellegrino that an 

MOI sold by 1st Global was “exempt from security laws or something like that.” Id. at 49:8–22; 

see also id. at 59:23–60:25 (providing Ledbetter’s detailed explanation for why, in his opinion, the 

MOIs were not securities). Pellegrino ultimately decided to have his firm sell 1st Global’s MOIs 

in “reliance upon the information that was provided to me by Mr. Ledbedder [sic].” Id. at 78:23–

79:12 (explaining that “I looked at him as a third-party, independent person, right. He described 

himself as outside legal counsel . . . So to me, that was saying, hey, I’m not with this company, 

I’m outside legal counsel.”).  
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40. Ledbetter also presented Pellegrino (and many other individuals) with marketing 

materials indicating that 1st Global was “represented by the law firm of Kopelowitz Ostrow.” See, 

e.g., id. at 174:18–22.  

41. Michael Latson, a senior analyst for 1st Global, further described Ledbetter’s deep 

involvement in selling the unregistered securities on behalf of 1 Global. Latson explained that, 

although Ledbetter did not work for 1st Global, he “received finder’s fees from 1st Global. His 

percentage varied from .75 percent to 1 percent of all the agents that brought in money to 1st 

Global.” Michael Latson Deposition Transcript, attached as Exhibit C, at 41:43–44:10. Describing 

the finder’s fee as a “commission,” Latson testified that Ledbetter “received in commission 

$100,000 to upwards of 200 in any given month.” Id. at 87:10–88:23.  

42. Ledbetter took the foregoing actions with KO’s approval, representing himself as a 

KO attorney, sending out official correspondence on KO letterhead, and informing individuals that 

KO was outside counsel for 1st Global. For example, while working at KO, Ledbetter provided 

updates on securities fraud cases on behalf of KO. See, e.g., 

https://myemail.constantcontact.com/Accusations-of-Fraud-at-Wells-Fargo-Spread-to-Sham-

Insurance-Policies.html?soid=1108953382238&aid=qNCEY4WLxik.  

43. At the same time, KO publicly supported Ledbetter as one of their attorneys. When 

Ledbetter joined KO in 2014, KO ran an announcement in the Florida Bar News stating: 

“Ledbetter has joined Kopelowitz Ostrow in Ft. Lauderdale as of counsel. Ledbetter represents 

claimants who were victims of investment negligence or abuse. His practice also includes 

representing medical providers in claims against insurance companies, especially regarding 

enforcement of prompt pay statutes.” See https://www.floridabar.org/news/tfb-

news/?durl=%2FDIVCOM%2FJN%2Fjnnews01.nsf%2FArticles%2FE22A5937B3BFDD11852

57DA8004E915B  As recently as October 2017, the KO website was touting Ledbetter as the 
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“founding partner of Ledbetter & Associates, P.A., a law firm which represented Claimants around 

the world who were victims of investment negligence or abuse.” See 

https://web.archive.org/web/20170812051703/http:/kolawyers.com/professionals/dale-ledbetter/. 

44. KO supported Ledbetter’s work in the business world and marketed Ledbetter’s 

credentials as an expert salesperson to burnish KO’s image. For example, KO’s website 

highlighted Ledbetter’s credentials as the “co-author of How Wall Street Rips you Off – and what 

you can do to defend yourself,” as well as books such as “The Ultimate Sales Professional, Success 

Yearbook and Bringing in the Business.” Id. KO attorneys also vouched for Ledbetter in public 

forums that touted Ledbetter’s business acumen. For instance, while working for KO, Ledbetter 

taught a class at Nova Southeastern University about “bringing in the business.” See 

https://secure.business.nova.edu/ExecEd/sales-programs/bringing-in-the-business.cfm. Nova’s 

website includes a testimonial from Michele Ostrow, Attorney, Kopelowitz Ostrow P.A., stating 

that “Dale provides key principles to success in all areas of business and relationships.” Id. 

Similarly, at a website marketing Ledbetter’s book, “Bringing in the Business,” Jan Atlas, a 

Kopelowitz Ostrow attorney who has repeatedly represented Ruderman and 1st Global, stated: 

“We practice what Dale Ledbetter teaches. Using his ideas, we have brought in a lot of business 

to our law firm.” See http://bringinginthebusiness.com/what-others-say/.  

45. Ledbetter’s work for 1st Global was just one facet of KO’s comprehensive 

representation of 1st Global and Ruderman. The comprehensive scope of KO’s representation of 

1st Global further demonstrates that Ledbetter’s actions were taken in the course and scope of his 

employment with KO. For example, since 2015, KO attorneys have represented 1st Global and 

Carl Ruderman as both plaintiff and defendants in at least half a dozen different lawsuits. See, e.g., 

1st Global Capital LLC v. Volt Electrical Systems LLC, No. 17-61416-CIV-DIMITROULEAS 

(S.D. Fla.) (initiating lawsuit on behalf of 1st Global by KO attorneys Courtney Jared Bannan, 
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Steven Zakharyayev, Jan Douglas Atlas, and Kristen Lake Cardoso); Carl Ruderman & 1 Global 

Capital LLC v. Adam Wolcott, No. 16-000150 CACE (09) (Fla. 17th Jud. Cir.) (initiating lawsuit 

on behalf of 1st Global and Carl Ruderman by KO attorneys); 1 Global Capital LLC v. Jesse T 

Callis, et al, No. 15-010514 CACE (09) (Fla. 17th Jud. Cir.) (initiating lawsuit by KO attorneys 

on behalf of 1st Global); Whetstone Holdings, LLC v. Thorell, No. 13–028075 CACE (07), 2015 

WL 12804263 (Fla. 17th Jud. Cir. Oct. 28, 2015) (showing KO attorneys represented defendants 

Carl Ruderman and 1st Global); Whetstone Holdings LLC v. Thorell, No. 2013-033627-CA-01 

(Fla. 11th Jud. Cir.) (showing KO attorneys represented defendant 1st Global). See also, e.g., 

Reiseck v. Universal Communications of Miami, Inc., 141 F. Supp. 3d 1295 (S.D. Fla. 2015) 

(indicating that KO attorneys represented defendant Carl Ruderman).1  

46. Individuals who communicated and corresponded with Ledbetter reasonably 

believed the Ledbetter was offering advice in his capacity as 1st Global’s “outside counsel” (i.e., 

KO) and could do so based on KO’s expertise in practice areas such as securities litigation, 

commercial & general civil litigation, and corporate transactions. Ledbetter’s actions were taken 

in the ordinary course of KO’s business as 1st Global’s “outside advisors” and with KO’s actual 

or apparent authority.  

DEFENDANTS’ OFFER AND SALE OF THE  
UNREGISTERED SECURITIES TO PLAINTIFF 

47. On or about October 19, 2017, Plaintiff submitted a completed application to 

purchase a MOI issued by 1st  Global, agreeing to invest $75,000. Based on her submission, 1st 

                                                 
1 As details of the 1st Global Ponzi scheme have emerged, KO and Ledbetter have attempted to 
distance themselves from each other. Ledbetter has been scrubbed from KO’s website, see 
https://www.kolawyers.com/our-professionals/, while Ledbetter has removed any reference to KO 
from his LinkedIn page. See https://www.linkedin.com/in/daleledbetter/. These superficial actions, 
however, do not change Ledbetter and KO’s liability for the actions they took together in service 
of 1st Global and Ruderman.  
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Global was aware that Plaintiff had limited investment experience and that her $75,000 investment 

was more than half of her current liquid assets.   

48. On or about October 26, 2017 1st Global from south Florida by email to Plaintiff 

in Arizona confirmed Plaintiff’s $75,000 investment. A true and accurate copy of 1st Global’s 

October 26, 2017 confirmatory email is attached as Exhibit D.  

49. Thereafter, 1st Global sent Plaintiff monthly statements depicting the performance 

of her investment, described as “the value of your portfolio.”  

50. Plaintiff reinvested her funds to purchase another MOI on or about July 21, 2018.  

51. Approximately one week later, on July 28, 2018, 1st Global filed for bankruptcy.  

52. On or about August 23, 2018, the SEC filed a civil action against 1st Global, 

alleging (among other things) the offer and sale of unregistered securities in violation of the 

Federal Securities Act.  

CLASS ALLEGATIONS  

53. Plaintiff brings her claims on behalf of herself and the following Nationwide Class:   

All persons who, within the Class Period, invested in a 1st Global MOI, whether 
initial or by reinvestment. 

  
(collectively, “the Class”). Excluded from the Class are Defendants, any of their affiliates and 

controlled entities, any trust in which they are either a settler or a beneficiary, and any members 

of their family, as well as any members of the judiciary to whom this case is assigned, their 

respective court staff, and the parties’ counsel in the litigation.   

54. The Class Period is one year from the date of filing of the initial Complaint for 

claims asserted under the Federal Securities Act and two years from the date of filing of the initial 

Complaint for claims asserted under the FSIPA. 

55. Certification of the Class is appropriate and warranted under Florida Rule of Civil 

Procedure 1.220.  
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56. The members of the Class are so numerous that separate joinder of each member is 

impracticable, especially given that the SEC has estimated over 3,400 persons have purchased 1st 

Global’s unregistered MOIs.  

57. Plaintiff’s contentions raise predominately questions of law or fact common to each 

member of the Class. These common legal and factual questions include, but are not limited to, 

the following:  

(A) whether the MOIs constitute a security under the Federal Securities Act; 

(B) whether the MOIs constitute a security under the FSIPA;  

(C) whether the MOIs were registered as required by the Federal Securities Act;  

(D) whether the MOIs were registered as required by the FSIPA; 

(E) whether the Ruderman is a “controlling person” liable for the offer and sale 

of unregistered securities under the Federal Securities Act; 

(F) whether KO and Ledbetter are liable as “statutory sellers” of the 

unregistered securities under the Federal Securities Act; 

(G) whether KO and Ledbetter are liable for the unlawful offer and sale of 

unregistered securities under the FSIPA;  

(H) whether Plaintiff and Class members are entitled to recessionary relief, 

damages or other forms of relief available under the Federal Securities Act 

and the FSIPA; and  

(I) whether Plaintiff and Class members are entitled to other equitable relief.  

58. Plaintiff’s claim is typical of the claim of each member of the Class, because, inter 

alia, all Class members were injured through the misconduct alleged herein. Plaintiff is advancing 

the same claim and legal theories on behalf of herself and all members of the Class.  
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59. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect and represent the interests of each 

member of the Class. Plaintiff is willing and prepared to serve the Court and the Class in a 

representative capacity with all of the obligations and duties material thereto. Plaintiff will fairly 

and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class. Plaintiff has retained counsel 

experienced in complex consumer class action litigation, and Plaintiff intends to prosecute this 

action vigorously. Plaintiff has no adverse or antagonistic interests to those of the Class  

60. In addition, Plaintiff satisfies the requisites of rule 1.220(b) by fulfilling rule 

1.220(b)(3), since the questions of law or fact common to the claim of each member of the Class 

predominate over any question of law or fact affecting only individual members of the Class.   

61. Finally, class representation is superior to other available methods for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of the controversy. In particular,   

(A) there is little economic incentive or other interest of Class members to 

individually prosecute separate claims,   

(B) Plaintiff is unaware of any other pending litigation to which any member of 

the Class is a party and in which any question of law or fact controverted in 

the subject action is to be adjudicated,   

(C) it is certainly desirable to concentrate this securities registration litigation 

in the 1st Global’s home forum, and   

(D) there appear no difficulties likely to be encountered in the management of 

the claim or defense on behalf of the Class.  

Judicial determination of the common legal and factual issues essential to this case would thus be 

far more efficient and economical as a class action than in piecemeal individual determinations. 
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FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

  
(Against Defendant Ruderman:  

“Control Person” Liability for Federal Securities Law Violations  
Based upon Sale of Unregistered Securities, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a), 77(e)(c) & 77l(a)(1))  

62. Plaintiff refers to Paragraphs 1 through 61 of the First Amended Complaint, 

inclusive, and incorporates them by reference as though set forth in full.  

63. Section 5(a) of the Federal Securities Act makes it unlawful for any person, directly 

or indirectly, to sell or deliver unregistered securities in interstate commerce. 15 U.S.C. § 77e(a). 

Section 5(c) of the Act requires the filing of a registration statement in order to offer or sell 

securities in interstate commerce. 15 U.S.C. § 77e(c).   

64. Section 12(a)(1) of the Federal Securities Act provides that “[a]ny person who 

offers or sells a security in violation of [Section 5] * * * shall be liable * * * to the person 

purchasing such security from him, who may sue either at law or in equity in any court of 

competent jurisdiction, to recover the consideration paid for such security with interest thereon, 

less the amount of any income received thereon, upon the tender of such security, or for damages 

if he no longer owns the security.” 15 U.S.C. § 77l(a)(1).  

65. Because the MOIs are securities, 1st Global’s offer or sale of the MOIs required 

registration under Sections 5(a) and 5(c), 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c).  

66. No registration statement was filed or in effect with the SEC pursuant to the Federal 

Securities Act or the FSIPA during the Class Period with respect to the securities issued by 1st 

Global and offered and sold to Plaintiff and the other members of the Class as described in this 

Complaint, and no exemption from registration existed with respect to those securities.   

67. During the Class Period, the 1st Global and Defendants directly or indirectly  



 

 

 
 

 

17 

(A) made use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication 

in interstate commerce or of the mails to sell securities, through the use or 

medium of a prospectus or otherwise;  

(B) carried or caused to be carried securities through the mails or in interstate 

commerce, by any means or instruments of transportation, for the purpose 

of sale or delivery after sale; or  

(C) made use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication 

in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through 

the use of medium of any prospectus or otherwise any security, without a 

registration statement having been filed or being in effect with the SEC as 

to such securities.  

68. By reason of the foregoing the 1st Global violated Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the 

Federal Securities Act. The three elements of a prima facie Section 5 violation are satisfied: [1] 

the sale or offer to sell securities, [2] the absence of a registration statement covering the securities, 

and [3] the use of the jurisdictional means.  

69. Pursuant to Section 12(a)(1) of the Federal Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77l(a)(1), 

“Any person who offers or sells a security . . . shall be liable to the person purchasing such security 

from him.” Section 12(a)(1)’s “strict” or “absolute” liability for the offer and sale of unregistered 

securities extends to any person who actively solicited the sale of the unregistered securities to the 

plaintiff and did so for financial gain of itself or the 1st Global. Pinter v. Dahl, 486 U.S. 622 

(1988).  

70. 1st Global is primarily liable Section 12(a)(1), because as alleged above it through 

direct and personal contact successfully solicited the purchase of the unregistered securities by 

Plaintiff and the Class motivated at least in part by a desire to serve its own financial interests.  
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71. Ruderman is secondarily liable for 1st Global’s primary violation under the 

“controlling persons” provisions of 15 U.S.C. § 77o(a) (“Section 20”), which provide:  

Every person who, by or through stock ownership, agency, or otherwise, or who, 
pursuant to or in connection with an agreement or understanding with one or more 
other persons by or through stock ownership, agency, or otherwise, controls any 
person liable under sections 77k or 77l of this title, shall also be liable jointly and 
severally with and to the same extent as such controlled person to any person to 
whom such controlled person is liable, unless the controlling person had no 
knowledge of or reasonable ground to believe in the existence of the facts by reason 
of which the liability of the controlled person is alleged to exist.  

 
72. Throughout the Class Period, Ruderman was, directly or indirectly, a control person 

of the 1st Global, as he through ownership, agency or otherwise controlled the 1st Global. As the 

SEC stated in its amended complaint, Ruderman “received daily, weekly, and monthly reports on 

the status of MCA loans, fundraising from investors, MCA collection efforts, and company 

finances, and often criticized subordinates who did not get him exactly what he wanted.” 

73. For example, in a sworn declaration (attached as Exhibit E), 1st Global’s former 

Chief Compliance Officer, Lyn Sohun, stated that “Ruderman reviewed and approved the monthly 

account statements before they went out to investors. Ruderman gave all of the directives at 1 

Global, and totally ran the company with an autocratic style of leadership.” Ex. E at ¶ 15. 1st 

Global’s former Director of Accounting and Finance, Richard Samuels, also submitted a sworn 

declaration (attached as Exhibit F) detailing the ways in which Ruderman personally controlled 

1st Global and its finances.  

74. The extent of Ruderman’s control over 1st Global was summarized by Michael 

Latson, a senior analyst for 1st Global. Latson testified that while Ruderman was nominally 1st 

Global’s chairman, “for all intents and purposes, he was effectively the CEO . . . he managed every 

process of the organization. He was always in the sales department pushing sales. He was always 

in every collections meetings talking with them about merchants who had defaulted. He was in 
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charge of just about every department . . . he was there every day . . . he oversaw the capital raising 

[the money raised from lenders] . . . the statements that was sent out to the lenders . . . the 

technology rollout of the systems.” Ex. D at 48:23–50:17.  

75. Ruderman himself admitted to his control of the company, writing in one email, 

“I’m personally on top of all operations from 8 am to 6:30 pm everyday!” See Email from Carl 

Ruderman dated Dec. 24, 2016, attached as Exhibit G.  

76. Accordingly, pursuant to Section 20, Ruderman is jointly and severally liable to 

Plaintiff and the Class.   

77. Plaintiff’s action under the Federal Securities Act is timely brought through the 

filing of Plaintiff’s initial Complaint within one year of her MOI purchases.  

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
  

(Against Defendants KO and Ledbetter:  
“Statutory Seller” Liability for Federal Securities Law Violations  

Based upon Sale of Unregistered Securities, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a), 77(e)(c) & 77l(a)(1))  

78. Plaintiff refers to Paragraphs 1 through 77 of the First Amended Complaint, 

inclusive, and incorporates them by reference as though set forth in full.  

79. By reason of the foregoing 1st Global violated Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Federal 

Securities Act. The three elements of a prima facie Section 5 violation are satisfied: [1] the sale or 

offer to sell securities, [2] the absence of a registration statement covering the securities, and [3] 

the use of the jurisdictional means.  

80. Pursuant to Section 12(a)(1) of the Federal Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77l(a)(1), 

“Any person who offers or sells a security . . . shall be liable to the person purchasing such security 

from him.” Section 12(a)(1)’s “strict” or “absolute” liability for the offer and sale of unregistered 

securities extends to any person who actively solicited the sale of the unregistered securities to the 
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plaintiff and did so for financial gain of itself or the 1st Global. Pinter v. Dahl, 486 U.S. 622 

(1988).  

81.  Ledbetter and KO are with 1st  Global primarily liable as a statutory seller under 

Section 12(a)(1), because as alleged above they too through direct and personal contact 

successfully solicited the purchase of the unregistered securities by Plaintiff and the Class, 

motivated at least in part by a desire to serve their own financial interests or those of 1st Global.  

82. Accordingly, Ledbetter and KO are under Section 12(a)(1) jointly and severally 

liable to Plaintiff and the Class. 

83. Alternatively, because Ledbetter acted within the scope and course of his 

employment with KO, KO is liable for his actions under the doctrine of respondeat superior. 

84.   Plaintiff’s action under the Federal Securities Act is timely brought through the 

filing of Plaintiff’s initial Complaint within one year of her MOI purchases. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Against Defendants Ruderman, KO and Ledbetter:  

FSIPA Violations under §§ 517.07 & 517.211, Fla. Stat.) 
  

85.   Plaintiff refers to Paragraphs 1 through 84 of the First Amended Complaint, 

inclusive, and incorporates them by reference as though set forth in full. 

86. Pursuant to section 517.07, Florida Statutes (“Section 517.07”), it is unlawful for a 

person to offer to sell or to sell securities from the State of Florida unless such securities are 

registered or exempted from registration. “Failure to register [a security] results in strict liability 

for the rescission of the transactions.” Musolino v. Yeshiva Machzikei Hadas Belz, 137 F. App’x 

321, 323 (11th Cir. 2005). 

87. Violations of the FSIPA arising out of conduct in the state of Florida are actionable 

by victimized investors residing both within and without of Florida. 
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88. Each MOI offered and sold to Plaintiff constituted a “security” under the FSIPA 

for the same reasons it constitutes a “security” under the Federal Securities Law. Honig, 2018 WL 

4502174, at *2. 

89. At no time during the Applicable Class Period were the MOIs registered for sale in 

Florida under Section 517.07. 

90. Pursuant to section 517.211, Florida Statutes (“Section 517.211”), every sale made 

in violation of Section 517.07 “may be rescinded at the election of the purchaser,” and “[e]ach 

person making the sale and every director, officer, partner, or agent of or for the seller, if the 

director, officer, partner, or agent has personally participated or aided in making the sale, is jointly 

and severally liable to the purchaser in an action for rescission, if the purchaser still owns the 

security, or for damages, if the purchaser has sold the security.” 

91. As alleged above, Ruderman was at all material times a “director, officer, partner, 

or agent” of 1st Global who “personally participated or aided in making the sale,” and accordingly 

is under Section 517.211 liable for the sale of unregistered securities in violation of Section 517.07. 

92. As alleged above, and as admitted by Ruderman, KO and Ledbetter were 

“responsible for preparing and disseminating 1 Global’s marketing materials to potential lenders 

(through the sales agent network), and for supervising and overseeing the marketing efforts by the 

sales agent network, including their representations and statements to potential lenders.” 

Furthermore, “not only did KO oversee the company’s efforts to raise funds, but it prepared the 

MOI contracts between 1 Global and its individual lenders,” and “when 1 Global sought advice as 

to whether the MOIs were securities that needed to be registered under the Securities Act, KO 

advised 1 Global that these were notes that did not need to be registered with the SEC.” 
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93. KO and Ledbetter therefore acted as “an agent of or for” 1st Global who “personally 

participated or aided in making the sale,” and accordingly are under Section 517.211 liable for the 

sale of unregistered securities in violation of Section 517.07.  

94. Alternatively, because Ledbetter acted within the scope and course of his 

employment with KO, KO is liable for his actions under the doctrine of respondeat superior. 

95. Plaintiff’s action under the FSIPA is timely brought within two years of her MOI 

purchases. 

TENDER 

96. Conditioned upon the receipt of the recessionary relief afforded under the Federal 

Securities Act and the FSIPA, Plaintiff tenders her MOIs to Defendants.  

PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendants as follows on behalf of 

herself and the Class:  

A. For rescission of all purchases of MOIs during the Class Period, and for return of 
all monies paid in connection with such purchases, in an amount to be proven at 
trial; 

B. Alternatively, for recessionary damages in an amount to be proven at trial; 

C. For prejudgment interest at the maximum rate allowed by law; 

D. For Plaintiff’s costs of suit herein; 

E. For reasonable attorneys’ fees to the extent allowed by statute or common fund; 

F. For costs of consultants, investigations, and discovery and other expenses incurred 
as necessary to mitigate damages resulting from Defendants’ wrongful conduct; 
and 

G. For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.  

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL  

Plaintiff hereby demands trial by jury of all issues so triable.  
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Dated this 2nd day of October , 2018.  

 

Respectfully submitted,  

By: s/ Adam M. Moskowitz  
Adam M. Moskowitz, Esq.   
Fla. Bar No. 984280  
Adam@moskowitz-law.com  
Howard M. Bushman, Esq.  
Fla. Bar No. 0364230  
Howard@moskowitz-law.com  
Adam A. Schwartzbaum  
Fla. Bar No. 93014  
Adams@moskowitz-law.com  
Joseph M. Kaye, Esq.  
Fla. Bar No. 117520  
joseph@moskowitz-law.com    
THE MOSKOWITZ LAW FIRM, PLLC  
2 Alhambra Plaza, Suite 601  
Coral Gables, Florida 33134  
Telephone: (305) 740-1423  
Facsimile: (786) 298-5737  

  
Andrew S. Friedman, Esq.   
(to be admitted pro hac vice)  
afriedman@BFFB.com   
Francis J. Balint, Jr., Esq.   
(to be admitted pro hac vice)  
fbalint@BFFB.com   
William F. King, Esq.   
(to be admitted pro hac vice)  
bking@BFFB.com   
BONNETT FAIRBOURN FRIEDMAN & BALINT, P.C.  
2325 E. Camelback Rd., Suite 300  
Phoenix, AZ 85016  
Telephone: (602) 274-1100  
Facsimile: (602) 274-1199  

  
Attorneys for Plaintiff   
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
I hereby certify that on this October 2, 2018, I served the foregoing document by U.S.P.S. 

on the persons set forth on the service list. 
    
 

By: s/ Adam M. Moskowitz  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SERVICE LIST 
 
Carl Ruderman  
20165 N.E. 39th Place  
#TSO1  
Aventura, Florida 33180



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

CASE NO. 18-cv-61991-BB 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

1 GLOBAL CAPITAL LLC, and 

CARL RUDERMAN,  

Defendants, and 

1 WEST CAPITAL LLC, et al., 

Relief Defendants. 

____________________________________________/ 

DEFENDANT CARL RUDERMAN’S MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION  

Defendant Carl Ruderman, through undersigned counsel, hereby submits this 

memorandum in opposition to the SEC’s request for a preliminary injunction.  This memorandum 

previews the various grounds on which Mr. Ruderman will oppose the SEC’s request for a 

preliminary injunction imposing a blanket asset freeze on Mr. Ruderman at the hearing scheduled 

for September 20, 2018.  For the reasons stated below, and as will be shown in further detail at the 

upcoming hearing, the Court should deny the request for a preliminary injunction or, at a minimum, 

substantially narrow the scope of the proposed asset freeze.  

INTRODUCTION 

Despite openly investigating 1 Global Capital LLC (“1 Global”) for several months, the 

SEC initiated this action under seal without notice to Mr. Ruderman, the former chairman of 1 
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Global, and moved ex parte for an asset freeze.  The SEC’s ex parte submission was one-sided.  It 

failed to provide the Court with a complete picture of the facts and omitted crucial details necessary 

to determine the imposition of a severe, blanket asset freeze.  The submission did not inform the 

Court that Mr. Ruderman was not involved in 1 Global’s representations to purported investors; 

that 1 Global’s marketing and sales to these “investors”—including the preparation of marketing 

materials that the SEC claims are misleading—were overseen by attorneys at a large Fort 

Lauderdale law firm; and that the same law firm was involved in approving of and putting together 

transactions the SEC claims were inconsistent with representations made to 1 Global’s investors 

or were a misappropriation of company assets.  These factual omissions in the SEC’s papers are 

especially notable in an ex parte posture.  For this reason, “our entire jurisprudence runs counter 

to the notion of court action taken before reasonable notice and an opportunity to be heard has 

been granted both sides of a dispute.”  See Granny Goose Foods, Inc. v. Bhd. of Teamsters & Auto 

Truck Drivers Local No. 70 of Alameda Cty., 415 U.S. 423, 439 (1974). 

 The SEC did not want to share these details with the Court for an obvious reason: they 

show that Mr. Ruderman did not knowingly violate the securities laws, a key element of the SEC’s 

claims.  Without proving the requisite mens rea, the SEC cannot prevail on its securities fraud 

claims, nor could it have persuaded this Court to enter an ex parte, blanket asset freeze over Mr. 

Ruderman’s personal and family assets.  We will show the Court that Mr. Ruderman, age 76, is 

not liable for securities fraud.  He operated the company at a top-level, delegating all of the 

operational details to other executives and his lawyers.  And to the extent there is a shortfall of 

funds (and there is not), it is attributed to legitimate business transactions by 1 Global that ended 

up having negative outcomes.  But that is not a securities violation.  That’s business. 
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 As shown below, the Court should deny the SEC’s request for a preliminary injunction 

imposing a blanket asset freeze.  First, the SEC has not established a prima facie case of securities 

violations by Mr. Ruderman, most notably due to his lack of intent.  Second, even if the Court 

elects to impose an asset freeze, the freeze requested by the SEC is improper and exceedingly 

onerous.  It encompasses assets with no nexus to the alleged securities violations, including assets 

pre-dating 1 Global’s operations and any future income obtained by Mr. Ruderman.  Under the 

existing asset freeze, Mr. Ruderman has no way of supporting his family, which includes his wife 

and three young children, or of paying for his legal fees and expenses.  The Court cannot impose 

such an injunction—it runs counter to case law and notions of fairness and due process. 

BACKGROUND 

A. 1 Global Operated with the Extensive Involvement of Legal Counsel 

 

   1 Global is a Florida company that provided direct merchant cash advances (“MCAs”) to 

small and medium-sized businesses.  See Chapter 11 Case Management Summary, In re Global 

Capital LLC, Case No. 18-19121-RBR (S.D.Fla.), at ¶ 2 (the “Case Summary”).   Mr. Ruderman 

was previously the chairman of 1 Global.  The MCAs issued by 1 Global were essentially high-

interest, short-term commercial loans, memorialized through “merchant agreements” and secured 

by an assignment of the merchant’s accounts receivable and future receipts.  See SEC Emergency 

Ex Parte Motion for Asset Freeze (“SEC Motion”), Exhibit 24; see also Case Summary ¶ 3.  Under 

the merchant agreements, the merchants were required to repay the cash advance by sending daily 

ACH payments to 1 Global until the full loan amount—typically 115-130% of funds advanced by 

1 Global—was fully repaid.  See SEC Motion, Ex. 32.  There is a large industry of companies that 

offer MCAs to small businesses.   For example, a survey conducted by the Federal Reserve found 
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that 7% of small businesses had applied for MCA financing.  See Small Business Credit Survey 

(2017), Federal Reserve of Banks1. 

 To finance the MCAs that it extended to small businesses, 1 Global borrowed money 

through short-term loans from individuals, maturing in nine months.  See Case Summary ¶ 4; see 

also SEC Motion, Exs. 23, 53.  These loans were memorialized through memorandums of 

indebtedness (MOIs) between 1 Global and the individual lenders or note holders.  Id.  Under the 

MOIs, the lender authorized 1 Global to use the loan funds to “expand its current business 

activities” in its “sole discretion.”   See SEC Motion, Ex. 23 ¶ 7.  Contrary to the SEC’s ex parte 

submission, the MOIs do not require that 1 Global use the loan funds only to fund MCAs.  Id.  In 

exchange for the loan, the individual lender received a 3% interest rate and additional income 

based on the profits of the MCAs and other activities financed by the lender’s funds.  Id. ¶ 8.  

 Importantly, Mr. Ruderman hired the law firm of Kopelowitz Ostrow (KO) to assist 1 

Global (and him) in all aspects of the company’s business operations.  KO is a Fort Lauderdale-

based, full-service law firm with almost forty lawyers.  As will be shown, KO’s involvement in 1 

Global was pervasive and substantial, and included forming the company, overseeing the 

company’s efforts to raise capital from individual lenders, and assisting with transactions involving 

third-party entities such as Bright Smile and Ganador, which the SEC has incorrectly described as 

misappropriations of investor funds.  See SEC Motion at 20.   

 First, 1 Global’s marketing operations to potential individual lenders—described by the 

SEC as investors—was spearheaded by an attorney at KO (the “KO Attorney”) who, to our 

knowledge, recently left the firm.  As noted by the SEC, 1 Global raised capital from individual 

                                                           
1 Available at https://www.fedsmallbusiness.org/medialibrary/fedsmallbusiness/files/2018/sbcs-

employer-firms-report.pdf 
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lenders through a network of sales agents who were independent contractors and who were paid 

on a commission basis.  See SEC Motion at 9.  The KO Attorney was responsible for overseeing 

1 Global’s entire network of sales agents, and received a commission “override” on all capital 

raised by these agents.  In this role, the KO Attorney was responsible for preparing and 

disseminating 1 Global’s marketing materials to potential lenders (through the sales agent 

network), and for supervising and overseeing the marketing efforts by the sales agent network, 

including their representations and statements to potential lenders.  The SEC’s own papers 

evidence the KO Attorney’s involvement here.  In support of its motion, the SEC submitted an e-

mail where 1 Global forwarded the company’s marketing materials to a sales agent.  Id., Ex. 24.  

The e-mail was sent “[a]t the request of [the KO Attorney].”  Id.  Carl Ruderman was not copied 

to that e-mail, nor to any other e-mails where marketing materials were disseminated.  See, e.g. 

id., Ex. 25.  Indeed, the SEC has not submitted any evidence of Mr. Ruderman’s involvement in 

the preparation of 1 Global’s marketing materials.  Importantly, KO never advised Mr. Ruderman 

that 1 Global’s marketing materials were in any way misleading. 

 Second, not only did KO oversee the company’s efforts to raise funds, but it prepared the 

MOI contracts between 1 Global and its individual lenders.  Moreover, when 1 Global sought 

advice as to whether the MOIs were securities that needed to be registered under the Securities 

Act, KO advised 1 Global that these were notes that did not need to be registered with the SEC.    

 Third, KO was involved in 1 Global’s decisions regarding deployments of “investor” 

capital that the SEC alleges were inconsistent with 1 Global’s marketing materials.   The SEC 

alleges that 1 Global misrepresented to investors that it would only deploy capital to finance small-

scale MCAs, when in fact the company extended $50 million to Travis Portfolio (“Travis”) to 

purchase credit card debt.  See SEC Motion at 15.  But the SEC did not inform the Court that the 
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KO Attorney introduced Travis to 1 Global, that the KO Attorney was aware of the Travis 

transaction(s), and that the KO Attorney elected to continue disseminating marketing materials 

that did not disclose 1 Global’s transactions with Travis.  KO never informed Mr. Ruderman that 

1 Global’s transactions with Travis were improper or inconsistent with its marketing materials. 

 Fourth, KO was involved in transactions that the SEC alleges constituted misappropriation 

of “investor” funds.  The SEC alleges that Mr. Ruderman improperly transferred funds from 1 

Global to Bright Smile LLC, a company that extended loans for dental and cosmetic procedures, 

and to Ganador LLC, a consumer loan company.  See SEC Motion at 20.  But another KO attorney, 

who handled 1 Global’s compliance and transactional needs, helped establish Bright Smile and 

served as the trustee the Bright Smile Trust, which owned Bright Smile.  Id., Ex. 37 at § 9.  Also, 

KO prepared Ganador’s operating agreement, which set out that Ganador received a multi-million 

loan from 1 Global (which the SEC claims was improper).  Id., Ex. 14 § 3.1.  Despite its 

involvement in these transactions, KO never advised Mr. Ruderman they were problematic.  

B. Mr. Ruderman’s Untainted Assets Subject to the Proposed Freeze 

 

 Before he formed 1 Global, Mr. Ruderman was a successful, wealthy businessman.  The 

SEC’s proposed asset freeze attempts to restrain Mr. Ruderman’s ability to transfer, sell, or spend 

untainted assets or funds that he obtained before 1 Global even began operating (the “Pre-1 Global 

Assets”).  Relevant here, the Pre-1 Global Assets include (i) Mr. Ruderman’s homestead residence 

located at 20165 NE 39th Place, #TS1, Aventura, Florida 33180 (the “Residence”), which he 

purchased in October 1999 for $2.7 million, and (ii) a $1 million deferred annuity purchased by 

Mr. Ruderman from Lincoln Financial Group in October 2012, for which his wife is the current 

beneficiary (the “Annuity”).  
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ARGUMENT 

I. The Court Should Deny the Entry of the Requested Asset Freeze 

 The SEC’s proposed asset freeze is a preliminary injunction under Rule 65.  See SEC v. 

Concorde Am., Inc., No. 05-80128-CIV, 2005 WL 8156911, at *5 (S.D. Fla. Aug. 8, 2005) (an 

order freezing assets is either a temporary restraining order or a preliminary injunction under Rule 

65); see also SEC v. Asset Recovery & Mgmt. Tr., S.A., 340 F. Supp. 2d 1305, 1309 (M.D. Ala. 

2004) (“for this court to freeze the assets in question, it must make findings warranting a 

preliminary injunction”).  The burden is on the SEC because it is the movant.  See FTC v. U.S. 

Mortg. Funding, Inc., No. 11-CV-80155, 2011 WL 810790, at *1 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 1, 2011).  The 

SEC claims that its only burden to obtain an asset freeze is for the Court to “find some basis for 

inferring a violation of the federal securities laws.”  See SEC Motion a 23.  But this misstates the 

SEC’s burden and the law, and if adopted would essentially allow the SEC to obtain an asset freeze 

in every single enforcement action that it brings.  That cannot be the case. 

 Before entering an asset freeze, the SEC must establish a prima facie case of violations of 

the federal securities laws.  See SEC v. Creative Capital Consortium, LLC, No. 08-81565-civ-

Middlebrooks, 2009 WL 10664544, at *2 (S.D.Fla. 2009).  And the Court should also consider 

“the egregiousness of the defendant's actions, the isolated or recurrent nature of the infraction, and 

the degree of scienter involved,” among other factors.  Id. (citation omitted).   The more onerous 

the injunction sought by the SEC, the more severe its burden.  See SEC v. Compania Internacional 

Financiera S.A., No. 11 CIV 4904, 2011 WL 3251813, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. July 29, 2011) (“Like any 

litigant, the Commission [is] obliged to make a more persuasive showing of its entitlement to a 

preliminary injunction the more onerous are the burdens of the injunction it seeks.”).  As shown 

below, the SEC is not entitled to a preliminary injunction here.    

Case 0:18-cv-61991-BB   Document 62   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/14/2018   Page 7 of 15



8 
 

A. The SEC Cannot Establish Prima Facie Securities Violations 

 The SEC will not be able to establish a prima facie case of securities fraud.  In order to 

prove a securities fraud claim under Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act, Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5, the SEC must establish (1) material misrepresentations or 

materially misleading omissions, (2) in the offer or sale of securities, (3) made with scienter.  See 

SEC v. Merchant, 483 F.3d 747, 766 (11th Cir. 2007).  Scienter is “a mental state embracing intent 

to deceive, manipulate or defraud.”  See Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193 n.12 

(1976). To establish scienter, the SEC must show that a defendant made a material misstatement, 

not merely innocently or negligently, but with an intent to deceive.  See SEC v. Betta, No. 09-

80803-Civ-Marra, 2011 WL 4369012, at *9 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 19, 2011).   Claims under Section 

17(a)(2) and (3) have the same elements except that they require negligence.  Merchant, 483 F.3d 

at 766.  For several reasons, the SEC fails to satisfy these elements. 

 First, as to the SEC’s claims under Section 10(b), those claims are not viable because the 

MOIs entered into by lenders are notes that mature within nine months and, thus, not considered 

securities subject to claims under the Exchange Act.  See 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(10) (notes with a 

maturity not exceeding nine months are not considered “securities” under the Exchange Act) ; see 

also SEC. v. Better Life Club of Am., Inc., 203 F.3d 54 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (notes exempt under § 

78c(a)(10) are not subject to securities fraud claims under the Exchange Act).  

 Second, 1 Global’s marketing materials did not make material misrepresentations or 

omissions to the company’s note holders.  1 Global operated consistent with its marketing 

materials: it almost exclusively funded MCAs to small and medium-sized businesses.  While the 

SEC focuses on transactions with Travis and others with an auto-dealership, those transactions 

were of a similar nature to MCAs but simply larger.  And those transactions were not prohibited 
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under the MOIs, which did not restrict 1 Global to small MCAs, but rather entrusted 1 Global with 

complete discretion regarding its funding decisions.   

 Third, Mr. Ruderman did not make direct representations to 1 Global’s individual lenders 

and he did not participate in the preparation or dissemination of 1 Global’s marketing materials to 

prospective lenders. See SEC v. Tambone, 417 F. Supp. 2d 127, 136 (D. Mass. 2006) (“Because 

the defendants in the case at bar were not responsible for the misleading disclosures in the funds' 

prospectuses, they were under no duty to correct those statements if they became misleading”).  

 And, fourth, and most important, Mr. Ruderman did not possess the requisite scienter 

regarding any of the misrepresentations alleged by the SEC.  Mr. Ruderman retained the services 

of and involved a law firm—Kopelowitz Ostrow—in virtually all aspects of 1 Global’s business 

operations, and entrusted them with ensuring 1 Global complied with the securities laws.  Lawyers 

at KO prepared 1 Global’s marketing materials to note holders; vetted and participated in 

approving of 1 Global’s transaction with Travis; and participated in and memorialized 1 Global’s 

loans to Ganador and Bright Smile, among other things.  KO never counseled Mr. Ruderman (or 

the company itself) that 1 Global was violating—or even at risk of violating—the securities laws 

with respect to any of the conduct at issue here.  And, naturally, Mr. Ruderman heavily relied on 

KO’s approval and assurances regarding 1 Global’s business activities.  Based on these facts, Mr. 

Ruderman will be able to establish an advice of counsel defense, or he will at least demonstrate 

that he acted in good faith and without scienter.  See SEC v. Huff, 758 F. Supp. 2d 1288, 1348-49 

(S.D. Fla. 2010); see also Markowski v. SEC, 34 F.3d 99, 104-05 (2d Cir. 1994).  

 Moreover, with respect to the SEC’s allegations that the monthly account statements 

received by note holders were materially inaccurate, any accuracies (to the extent any existed) 

were due to sloppy book-keeping, and not intentional or knowing misconduct by Mr. Ruderman.  
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Indeed, while contending that Mr. Ruderman committed misrepresentations in these account 

statements due to inaccurate figures concerning the note holder’s accounts, the SEC’s own 

submission contains multiple declarations by former 1 Global employees who stated that the 

company’s accounting records and books were in disarray.  See, e.g., SEC Motion, Ex. 7 (former 

chief compliance officer: “1 Global’s books and records were in . . . disarray”); Ex. 8 (former 

director of finance: “[1 Global’s] internal financial records were not in good order”).   

B. Equitable Factors Disfavor a Preliminary Injunction 

 In addition, the factors set forth by Judge Middlebrooks in Creative Capital weigh against 

an asset freeze.  See 2009 WL 10664544, at *2.  Mr. Ruderman’s actions here were not egregious 

and lacked scienter.  Mr. Ruderman did not intend to commit any securities violations, nor was he 

negligent.  He managed 1 Global with the close assistance and guidance of outside counsel, which 

spearheaded the company’s capital-raising efforts and assisted him with transactions the SEC 

claims were improper.  And Mr. Ruderman was barely involved in raising capital from outside 

note holders, and had no involvement in preparing the marketing materials that the SEC claims 

contain misrepresentations.  This is completely different from a case where a defendant 

intentionally sets out to defraud investors and was personally involved in the alleged securities 

violations.  Further, this is the first time that Mr. Ruderman has been alleged to have committed 

securities violations and is the subject of an SEC enforcement action.   

 In addition, while the SEC may raise that Mr. Ruderman asserted his Fifth Amendment 

privilege in a deposition taken on an expedited basis in this case, it should be noted that we 

counseled Mr. Ruderman to assert his privilege because, at the time, Mr. Ruderman had not had 

the opportunity to review any of the relevant documents with his counsel.  Indeed, to date, we have 

made various requests to KO for client files and records without success, and we are just beginning 

Case 0:18-cv-61991-BB   Document 62   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/14/2018   Page 10 of 15



11 
 

to review voluminous records that were recently provided by 1 Global.  Mr. Ruderman’s counsel 

could not possibly allow its 76-year old client to sit for a deposition taken by the SEC without 

adequate preparation, especially given the serious nature of the SEC’s allegations.    

II. If the Court Imposes an Asset Freeze, It Must Exclude Untainted Assets 

 If the Court elects to impose a preliminary injunction imposing an asset freeze on Mr. 

Ruderman for the duration of this case, it must modify the asset freeze so that it only affects assets 

of Mr. Ruderman that are directly traced to the alleged securities violations here.   

 There is substantial case law in regulatory enforcement actions imposing this requirement 

on the scope of an asset freeze because a court’s equitable jurisdiction under regulatory statutes 

extends only to specific assets that were obtained through violative conduct.  See CFTC v. Next 

Fin. Servs. Unlimited, Inc., No. 04-80562-cv-Ryskamp, 2005 WL 6292467, at *12 (S.D.Fla. June 

7, 2005) (“A claim for equitable relief will only warrant imposition of a pre-judgment asset freeze 

when the freeze bears a sufficient nexus to both the merits of the action and the particular property 

sought.”); see also CFTC v. Aliaga, No.10-21074-cv-Cooke, 2011 WL 766271, at *2 (S.D.Fla. 

Feb. 25, 2011) (“The propriety of the Statutory Restraining Order hinges on whether the CFTC 

has made sufficient allegations . . . to establish a nexus between the assets held . . . and the 

Defendants’ alleged misconduct.”).  In FTC v. Netran Devel. Corp., Judge Ungaro closely 

examined this issue and denied an asset freeze on this basis.  She stated:  

Here, because the availability of an asset freeze under [Section] 

13(b) of the FTC Act derives from the Court’s equitable jurisdiction, 

it follows that in order to grant such relief, there must be a nexus 

between those assets and the illegal gains akin to a tracing of assets. 

 

See Order Adopting Magistrate’s Report and Recommendation, No. 05-22223-cv-Ungaro (DE 80) 

at 10 (emphasis added).   
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 Here, the existing asset freeze—which the SEC seeks to extend in a preliminary 

injunction—restrains all of Mr. Ruderman’s assets, even if there is no nexus between the frozen 

asset and the alleged securities violations at issue in this case.  See Order Granting Asset Freeze 

(DE 13) at 3 (prohibiting Mr. Ruderman from dealing with “any assets or property” that are 

“owned by, controlled by, or in the possession of, whether jointly or singly, [Mr. Ruderman]”).  

This blanket freeze is improper in two specific ways and must be modified.   

 First, the freeze restrains Mr. Ruderman’s personal and family assets that pre-dated 1 

Global. As noted, Mr. Ruderman had substantial assets before 1 Global was established—assets 

that obviously lack any nexus to Mr. Ruderman’s purported securities violations.  Yet, the 

requested freeze would improperly restrain Mr. Ruderman and his family’s ability to access those 

untainted assets.  Specifically, the freeze would restrain Mr. Ruderman’s family Residence (which 

he purchased over 14 years before 1 Global), and a $1 million Annuity purchased approximately 

2 years before 1 Global.  Without being able to access, control, or sell these clean assets, Mr. 

Ruderman—like any other defendant in this situation—will be unable to pay for his family’s living 

expenses (including those of his three dependent children) as well as his legal fees.   

 FTC v. Washington Data is instructive here.  There, faced with a defendant in a regulatory 

action who had substantial assets before the alleged regulatory violations occurred, the Court 

denied an asset freeze over personal assets that pre-dated the conduct at issue.  The Court stated: 

By my consideration, the available evidence demonstrates that 

Bishop had significant income in 2006 and especially 2007, income 

which indisputably was unrelated to the activity alleged by the FTC. 

. . . Furthermore, certain of his financial accounts existed before the 

pertinent time period in 2008 and 2009 and cannot be causally 

related to the alleged improper activities in this case. While the FTC 

seeks to impose personal liability against Bishop . . . I conclude that 

assets amassed prior to the alleged wrongdoing should be 

excluded from any asset freeze.  
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FTC v. Washington Data Res., No. 8:09-CV-2309-T-23TBM, 2011 WL 3566612, at *4 (M.D. Fla. 

July 15, 2011), adopted, No. 8:09-CV-2309-T-23TBM, 2011 WL 3566208 (M.D. Fla. Aug. 12, 

2011) (emphasis added).  Similarly, here, the Court should exclude from the scope of the proposed 

asset freeze Mr. Ruderman’s Residence, the Annuity, and any other Pre-1 Global Assets. 

 Second, the asset freeze improperly purports to freeze even those assets or income obtained 

by Mr. Ruderman in the future.  Asset freezes imposed in regulatory actions do not freeze future 

income or assets acquired by the subject defendant.  That way, the defendant is still able to earn 

income and pay for his or her family’s living expenses.  See, e.g., Preliminary Injunction (DE 105) 

at 40, FTC v. World Patent Marketing, Case No. 17-cv-20848-civ-Gayles (S.D.Fla.) (asset freeze 

did not apply to assets “obtained after date and time this Order was entered” unless they were 

derived from “Defendants’ activities as alleged in the . . . Complaint”); see also Preliminary 

Injunction (DE 22) at 9, FTC v. American Student Loan Consolidators, Case No. 17-cv-61862-

civ-Gayles (S.D.Fla.) (asset freeze did not apply to “assets obtained by Defendants after this Order 

is entered” unless the assets “derived from any activity that is the subject of the Complaint”).  But 

here, the SEC’s proposed asset freeze does not include this basic exclusion and purports to apply 

to future, untainted assets.  Thus, if Mr. Ruderman earns income from a future business or 

employment, that income would ostensibly be subject to the proposed asset freeze.  This is beyond 

onerous.  The Court should therefore modify the scope of the proposed asset freeze to exclude any 

assets obtained by Mr. Ruderman after the asset freeze is entered unless somehow the assets are 

derived from the alleged securities violations asserted by the SEC in its Complaint. 

 In sum, as currently structured, the SEC’s proposed asset freeze would deprive Mr. 

Ruderman and his family of access to untainted assets—those pre-existing 1 Global or obtained in 

the future—that the Ruderman family needs to be able to live.  Mr. Ruderman needs to be able to 
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pay for housing, for his young children’s schools, for basic life necessities, for health insurance, 

and for counsel in this action, among other things.  Mr. Ruderman should be able to pay for these 

necessities with assets bearing no nexus to this action.  The SEC’s proposed freeze would prevent 

him from doing so.  Such an asset freeze is exceedingly draconian and improper under the law.   

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, the Court should deny the SEC’s request for a preliminary 

injunction imposing an asset freeze on Mr. Ruderman.  Alternatively, if the Court enters an asset 

freeze, the Court should substantially narrow its scope so that it applies to only those assets of Mr. 

Ruderman with a nexus to the securities violations alleged by the SEC.   

Dated: September 14, 2018    

 Respectfully Submitted, 

 /s/ Michael A. Pineiro 

 MARCUS NEIMAN & RASHBAUM LLP          

  

 Jeffrey E. Marcus 

 Fla. Bar No. 310890 

 jmarcus@mnrlawfirm.com 

                

  Michael A. Pineiro 

  Fla. Bar No. 41897 

  mpineiro@mnrlawfirm.com 

 

2 South Biscayne Boulevard, Suite 1750                

Miami, Florida 33131 

Telephone: (305) 400-4268                                                          

 

                    Counsel for Carl Ruderman 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on September 14, 2018, a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

memorandum was served via CM/ECF on all counsel or parties of record. 

 

 By: /s/ Michael A. Pineiro                

              Michael A. Pineiro 
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